
IN THE COURT OF COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, OHIO 

CIVIL DIVISION 

 

Robert Lee Davis :  

382 US Highway 42 NE, :  

London, OH 43140, : 

:  

  Plaintiff,   :  

   :  

vs.        : 

                                                : Case No.:  

Columbus Motorcars, LLC  : 

dba Great Lakes Hyundai of Columbus : Judge: 

c/o SN Registered Agent LLC : 

(Statutory Agent)  :  

655 Metro Place Ste. 365  : 

Dublin, OH 43017, : JURY DEMAND ENDORSED HEREIN 

   : 

  Defendant.  : 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

COMPLAINT 

NOW COMES Plaintiff Robert Lee Davis, by and through counsel, and herein states the 

following as and for his Complaint against Defendant Columbus Motorcars, LLC dba Great 

Lakes Hyundai of Columbus. 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff, Robert Lee Davis (“Mr. Davis”), is a citizen of Madison County, Ohio, and 

resides at 382 US Highway 42 NE, London, OH 43140.  

2. Defendant, Columbus Motorcars, LLC (“Columbus Motorcars”), is a domestic limited 

liability company (Ohio Entity Registration #4976837) which does business as Great Lakes 

Hyundai of Columbus (“GLH”) under Ohio tradename registration #5082195. 
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3. GLH’s statutory agent is Defendant Columbus Motorcars, 2900 Morse Road, Columbus, 

Ohio 43231 whose statutory agent is SN Registered Agent LLC, 655 Metro Place Ste. 365, Dublin, 

OH 43017. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in all previous paragraphs as 

if fully restated herein. 

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Ohio Revised Code § 2305.01. 

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant as it conducts business in Franklin 

County, Ohio. 

7. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Ohio Civil Rule 3(B) because the events giving 

rise to the cause of action occurred in Franklin County, Ohio, and Defendant conducts business in 

Franklin County, Ohio. 

8. Plaintiff seeks compensatory damages, non-economic damages, and punitive damages as 

provided under Ohio Revised Code § 2315.21, for which each individual claim exceeds $25,000, 

in addition to attorney’s fees and costs. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

9. On or about October 1, 2024, Robert Lee Davis (“Mr. Davis”), residing at 382 US Highway 

42 NE, London, Ohio 43140, purchased a 2020 Lincoln SUV Corsair (VIN # 

5LMCJ1C94LUL12595) the “Vehicle” from Defendant Columbus Motorcars dba GLH, located 

at 2900 Morse Rd., Columbus, OH 43231, for the sum of $36,932.64 the “Transaction.” (Exhibit 

A; Exhibit K). 

10. The purchase transaction included a trade-in allowance of $5,000.00 for a 2017 Lincoln 

MRZ (VIN #: 3LN6L5D98HR602885), with a pay-off trade-in balance of $7,007.45. (Exhibit A). 
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11. The transaction was for personal, family, or household purposes. 

12. The title for the Corsair claimed the vehicle to be in “good condition.” 

13. During the transaction, Mr. Davis was required to sign several documents, including but 

not limited to a “Retail Buyer’s Order,” “Notice: Acknowledgment of as-is Purchase,” “Agreement 

to Arbitrate,” “Conditional Spot Delivery Agreement,” “Insurance Verification,” “Odometer 

Disclosure Statement,” “Power of Attorney for Ohio Vehicle Registration,” “Application(s) for 

Certificate of Title to a Motor Vehicle,” and “Application for Dealer Assignment.” (Exhibits A-

I). 

14. Mr. Davis is blind, and no accommodations were provided to assist him in understanding 

the terms and contents of the documents of the Transaction beyond the written text. 

15. Defendant knew or should have known of Mr. Davis’s disability, as his visual impairment 

was clearly apparent during the Transaction. 

16. Defendant failed to provide reasonable accommodations to Mr. Davis by failing to read 

aloud the documents or provide alternative formats such as Braille or digitally accessible 

documents of the Transaction. 

17. Furthermore, numerous documents required signatures with statements indicating “by 

signing, customer acknowledges that he has read the agreement,” yet no accommodation was 

provided by Defendant despite the Mr. Davis being blind, making it impossible for him to access 

or to read the documents he was asked to acknowledge. 

18. On or about December 31, 2024, the Vehicle was taken to Kram & Kram Auto Repair by 

Jamell Martin, due to complaints of water entering the Vehicle and the front-end vibrating at high 

speeds. 
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19. Less than three months after purchase, the repair shop discovered that the Vehicle had pre-

existing structural damage that was never disclosed to Mr. Davis, resulting in necessary 

mechanical repairs and additional damage’s incurred by Mr. Davis directly attributable to these 

knowingly concealed structural defects. 

20. Kram & Kram Auto Repair determined that the Vehicle had water leaking into the vehicle 

from the windshield seal, attributed to prior repairs of prior damage. (Exhibit J). 

21. Further inspection revealed that the front-end vibrations were caused by the need for 

replacement and realignment of the front-end suspension components. (Exhibit J). 

22. This prior accident and structural damage were not disclosed to Mr. Davis at the time of 

the Transaction. 

23. The condition of the Vehicle negates the “good condition” representation on the title 

documents and affirmed by GLH representatives. 

24. Defendant’s intentional conduct knowingly deprived Mr. Davis of the ability to make an 

informed decision regarding the purchase of the Vehicle and resulted in financial and other 

damages to Mr. Davis from the Transaction.  

25. As a result of Defendant knowing and intentional acts, Mr. Davis has suffered injury to his 

mental and physical health in addition to monetary damages in excess of $25,000 to be proven at 

trial. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: 

VIOLATION OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITES ACT  

(42 U.S.C. § 12181 ET SEQ.) 

26. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained in the 

above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 
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27. Defendant dba GLH qualifies as a place of public accommodation under 42 U.S.C. § 

12181(7), as it is a dealership open to the public for the sale of vehicles. 

28. Mr. Davis is a qualified individual with a disability as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 12102 the 

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”). 

29. During the Transaction on October 1, 2024, Mr. Davis, who is blind, was required to sign 

multiple documents without any accommodations or auxiliary aids to facilitate effective 

communication.  

30. Defendant dba GLH knew or should have known Mr. Davis was blind.  

31. Defendant dba GLH provided only written documents, failing to ensure Mr. Davis 

understood the terms, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(A)(iii) despite knowing Mr. Davis 

was blind. 

32. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant dba GLH’s failure to provide necessary 

accommodations, Mr. Davis, a blind individual, was unable to fully read and understand the terms 

of the purchase at the time of the Transaction.  

33. The failure to accommodate led to the acquisition of a vehicle with undisclosed defects, 

causing him economic and non-economic harm. 

34. Defendant dba GLH failed to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services to ensure 

effective communication with Mr. Davis during the transaction in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 

12182(b)(2)(A)(iii). 

35. Defendant dba GLH’s failure to provide reasonable accommodations prevented Mr. Davis 

from fully understanding the terms of the purchase agreement and accompanying documents of 

the Transaction. 
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36. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant dba GLH’s violations of the ADA, Mr. Davis 

has suffered damages, including but not limited to emotional distress, financial loss, and 

deprivation of his civil rights, in excess of $25,000 to be proven at trial.  

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: 

VIOLATION OF THE MAGNUSON-MOSS WARRANTY ACT  

(15 U.S.C. § 2301, ET SEQ.)  

37. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained in the 

above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 

38. Defendant dba GLH knowingly required Mr. Davis to sign documents, including those 

related to warranty terms, without providing accommodations for his blindness. 

39. By failing to ensure that the warranty terms were disclosed in a clear and conspicuous 

manner accessible to Mr. Davis, Defendant dba GLH violated the requirements of the Magnuson-

Moss Warranty Act 15 U.S.C. §2301.et seq.  

40. Plaintiff is a consumer as defined by 15 U.S.C. 2301(3).  

41. Defendant dba GLH is a “supplier” and “warrantor” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 2301(4) and 

(5). 

42. The 2020 Lincoln SUV Vehicle constitutes a “consumer product” as defined by 15 U.S.C. 

§ 2301(1). 

43. Defendant dba GLH provided an implied warranty of merchantability as defined by 15 

U.S.C. § 2301(7) by virtue of Ohio’s adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code. 

44. The Vehicle purchase price exceeds the jurisdictional threshold of $50,000 established by 

15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(3)(B) when including damages. 

45. The Vehicle was not fit for the ordinary purpose for which such goods are used due to the 

undisclosed prior accident damage and resulting water leakage and suspension issues. 
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46. As a result of Defendant dba GLH’s knowing and intentional actions, Mr. Davis suffered 

damages due to his inability to understand the implied warranties, entitling him to relief. 

47. Defendant dba GLH violated the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act by failing to honor the 

implied warranties and knowingly and intentionally misrepresenting the condition of the Vehicle.  

48. As a direct, proximate and legal result, Defendant dba GLH is liable to Plaintiff for 

recission of the transaction, and consequential damages or compensatory damages in excess of 

$25,000 to be proven at trial and, in either event, reasonable attorney’s fees.  

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: 

RESCISSION 

49. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained in the 

above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 

50. A valid contract existed between Mr. Davis and Defendant dba GLH for the purchase of 

the 2020 Lincoln SUV Corsair on or about October 1, 2024.  

51. The contract was induced by Defendant dba GLH’s material misrepresentations regarding 

the condition of the Vehicle, specifically representing it to be in “good condition” when Defendant 

dba GLH knew or should have known of prior accident damage and structural defects.  

52. Defendant dba GLH failed to disclose material facts regarding the Vehicle’s prior accident 

history, structural damage, and resulting defects, including water leakage and suspension issues.  

53. Defendant dba GLH knowingly took advantage of Mr. Davis’s blindness by failing to 

provide reasonable accommodations to ensure he could understand the terms and conditions of the 

transaction documents.  

54. Mr. Davis’s consent to the contract was obtained through Defendant dba GLH’s fraudulent 

misrepresentations and material omissions regarding the Vehicle’s true condition and the contents 

of the documents signed.  
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55. Mr. Davis justifiably relied on Defendant dba GLH’smisrepresentations when entering into 

the contract.  

56. The misrepresentations and omissions were material to the transaction, as knowledge of 

the Vehicle’s true condition would have materially affected Mr. Davis’s decision to purchase the 

Vehicle and/or the price he was willing to pay.  

57. Mr. Davis discovered the grounds for rescission within approximately three months of the 

transaction when the Vehicle’s defects became apparent through inspection and repair.  

58. Mr. Davis seeks rescission promptly upon discovery of the fraudulent misrepresentations 

and material omissions.  

59. Mr. Davis has not affirmed the contract after discovering the grounds for rescission.  

60. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant dba GLH’s conduct, Mr. Davis is entitled to 

rescission of the contract and restitution of all consideration paid, including the purchase price, 

trade-in value, and incidental costs.  

61. Alternatively, if rescission is not available, Mr. Davis is entitled to damages for the 

difference between the value of the Vehicle as represented and its actual value, plus consequential 

damages including repair costs and diminution in value in excess of $25,000 to be proven at trial.  

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION 

62. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained in the 

above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 

63. Defendant dba GLH knowingly and intentionally made materially false representations 

regarding the condition of the Vehicle during the Transaction, including representing that it was 

in “good condition” and failing to disclose its prior accident history and structural damage with 

knowledge that Mr. Davis was blind. 
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64. Defendant dba GLH knew these representations were false or made them with reckless 

disregard for their truth or falsity. 

65. These representations were made with the intent of inducing Mr. Davis to purchase the 

Vehicle. 

66. Mr. Davis justifiably relied on these misrepresentations in deciding to purchase the 

Vehicle. 

67. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant dba GLH’s fraudulent misrepresentations, 

Mr. Davis has suffered damages, including the purchase price of a Vehicle worth substantially less 

than represented, repair costs, and diminution in value, in excess of $25,000 to be proven at trial.  

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

VIOLATION OF THE CONSUMER SALES PRACTICE ACT  

(§ 1345.01, ET SEQ., DECEPTIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES) 

68. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained in the 

above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 

69. Mr. Davis is a “consumer” as defined in R.C. § 1345.01(A). 

70. Defendant is a “supplier” as defined in R.C. § 1345.01(C).  

71. Mr. Davis engaged in a “consumer transaction” with Defendant, who constitutes “supplier” 

under the act. 

72. Defendant dba GLH engaged in unfair and deceptive acts or practices in violation of R.C. 

§ 1345.02 by:  

a. Knowingly representing that the Vehicle had characteristics or benefits that it did 

not have; 

 

b. Knowingly representing that the Vehicle was of a particular standard or quality 

when it was not; 
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c. Knowingly failing to disclose material information about the Vehicle's prior 

accident history and structural damage in violation of OAC 109:4-3-16(B)(22) and 

OAC 109:4-3-16(B)(14); and 

 

d. Knowingly and intentionally taking advantage of Mr. Davis’s disability during the 

sales process. 

 

73. Defendant dba GLH engaged in unconscionable acts or practices in violation of R.C. § 

1345.03(B)(1) by: 

a. Knowingly taking advantage of Mr. Davis’s inability to understand the language of 

the agreements of the transaction; 

 

b. Knowingly taking advantage of Mr. Davis’s physical infirmity; 

 

c. Knowingly taking advantage of the inability of Mr. Davis reasonably to protect his 

interests because of his physical infirmity, namely his blindness; and 

 

d. Knowingly selling a defective Vehicle at a substantially higher price than its actual 

value. 

 

74. Defendant dba GLH failed to provide Mr. Davis with ADA compliant information to 

accommodate for Mr. Davis’s blindness.  

75. Specifically, the Defendant dba GLH never provided Mr. Davis with accommodations to 

help him understand the documents of the Transaction executed beyond the written text. As a 

result, Mr. Davis had no knowledge of which documents he was signing, their content, or their 

legal significance.  

76. Mr. Davis was unable to make an informed decision about the Transaction or understand 

the terms to which he was allegedly agreeing yet was still required to acknowledge having “read” 

documents he physically could not read. 

77. The failure to provide instructions constitutes an unfair or deceptive act under the CSPA 

and violations of OAC 109:4-3-07 requiring both written and oral disclosures in consumer 

transactions. 
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78. Defendant dba GLH is in violation of the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act, R.C. § 

1345.02(A) and O.A.C. § 109:4-3-05(D)(12), as well as OAC 109:4-3-16(B)(1) and OAC 109:4-

3-16(B)(15) by misrepresenting the Vehicle’s condition and prior damage history. 

79. These violations constitute unfair, deceptive, and unconscionable acts or practices under 

the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act. 

80. As a direct, proximate, and legal result of the deceptive practices, Defendant dba GLH is 

liable for recission of the transaction and damages not cured by the remedy of recission in excess 

of $25,000 to be proven at trial; or treble damages, which in either event, entitles Plaintiff to 

attorney’s fees.  

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

BREACH OF CONTRACT 

 

81. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained in the 

above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 

82. On or about October 1, 2024, Mr. Davis entered into a contract with Defendant dba GLH 

to purchase a the Vehicle. (Exhibit A). 

83. Mr. Davis agreed to pay $36,932.64 for the Vehicle, including a trade-in allowance of 

$5,000.00 for his 2017 Lincoln MRZ. 

84. Defendant dba GLH represented that the Vehicle was in “good condition.” 

85. There were both implied and express warranties regarding the Vehicle’s condition and 

performance.  

86. The Vehicle was found to be leaking water due to prior structural repairs within three 

months of purchase, and required front-end suspension repairs, contradicting the “good condition” 

claim by Defendant dba GLH. 
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87. Defendant dba GLH knowingly and intentionally did not provide Mr. Davis, who is blind, 

with accessible information regarding the vehicle’s condition and warranty terms. 

88. Mr. Davis incurred costs related to diagnosing and potentially repairing the vehicle’s 

defects that Defendant dba GLH was aware of at the time of Transaction but knowingly and 

intentionally failed to disclose to Mr. Davis at the time of Transaction. 

89. Due to the knowing and intentional lack of accessible disclosure, Mr. Davis was deprived 

of meaningful warranty protection, leading to further financial and practical detriment. 

90. Defendant dba GLH’s knowing and intentional failure to accurately represent the vehicle's 

condition and disclose warranty information constitutes a breach of contract.  

91. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s breach, Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory 

damages in excess of $25,000, attorney’s fees, and costs related to this cause of action to be proven 

at trial.  

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:  

NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION 

92. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained in the 

above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 

93. Defendant dba GLH had a duty to provide true and accurate information regarding the 

condition of the Vehicle being sold during the Transaction. 

94. Defendant dba GLH represented the Vehicle as being in “good condition.” 

95. Defendant dba GLH failed to verify or disclose the Vehicle’s actual condition, including 

prior structural repairs and defects. 

96. Mr. Davis relied on Defendant dba GLH’s representation of the Vehicle’s condition when 

deciding to purchase the Vehicle. 
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97. Given Defendant dba GLH’s position and expertise, it was reasonable for Mr. Davis to rely 

on Defendant dba GLH’s statements. 

98. Mr. Davis incurred costs related to diagnosing and potentially repairing the Vehicle’s 

known but undisclosed defects, including water leakage and front-end suspension issues. 

99. The defects affected the Vehicle’s usability and value, causing further damages to Mr. 

Davis. 

100. In the course of its business and during the Transaction, Defendant dba GLH 

negligently supplied false information regarding the condition of the Vehicle. 

101. Defendant dba GLH failed to exercise reasonable care or competence in obtaining 

or communicating information about the Vehicle’s condition during the Transaction. 

102. Defendant dba GLH failed to exercise reasonable care or competence by neglecting 

to provide necessary documentation about the vehicle’s condition in accessible formats for 

individuals with visual impairments.  

103. Despite being aware of Mr. Davis’s blindness, Defendant dba GLH did not make 

reasonable accommodations to ensure equal access to critical information, thereby breaching their 

duty of care to communicate Vehicle condition information in an accessible manner. 

104. Mr. Davis justifiably relied on the information provided by Defendant dba GLH. 

105. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant dba GLH’s negligent 

misrepresentations, Mr. Davis has suffered damages. 

106. Defendant dba GLH’s failure to accurately represent the Vehicle’s condition, 

without exercising reasonable care, constitutes negligent misrepresentation.  
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107. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant dba GLH’s violations, Mr. Davis has 

suffered financial losses and incurred damages as a result of Defendant dba GLH’s 

misrepresentation, in excess of $25,000 to be proven at trial.  

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION:  

BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY 

108. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained 

in the above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 

109. Defendant dba GLH impliedly warranted that the vehicle was merchantable and fit 

for the ordinary purpose for which such goods are used. 

110. The Vehicle was not merchantable at the time of sale due to undisclosed prior 

accident damage resulting in water leakage and suspension issues. 

111. The Vehicle was not fit for the ordinary purpose of providing reliable 

transportation. 

112. Defendant dba GLH breached the implied warranty of merchantability by selling 

Mr. Davis a Vehicle that was not in merchantable condition. 

113. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant dba GLH’s breach, Mr. Davis has 

suffered both economic and non-economic damages in excess of $25,000 to be proven at trial.  

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION:  

VIOLATION OF OHIO PUBLIC ACCOMMODATION LAW 

114. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all facts, statements, and allegations contained 

in the above paragraphs as though expressly re-written and restated herein. 

115. Defendant dba GLH operates a place of public accommodation as defined by R.C. 

4112.01(A)(9). 

116. Mr. Davis is a person with a disability as defined by R.C. 4112.01(A)(13). 
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117. Defendant dba GLH refused and failed to provide auxiliary aids and services 

necessary to ensure effective communication with Mr. Davis during the transaction in violation of 

R.C. § 4112.02(G). 

118. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant dba GLH’s violations, Mr. Davis has 

suffered both economic and non-economic damages, including emotional distress and financial 

loss, in excess of $25,000 to be proven at trial.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for Judgment against the Defendant dba GLH for 

compensatory damages, both economic and noneconomic, each in an amount in excess of $25,000, 

punitive damages in an amount in excess of $25,000, plus interest, costs, prejudgment interest, 

reasonable attorney’s fees, and such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Bradley N. Jeckering_______ 

Bradley N. Jeckering (0092299) 

Kristie A. Campbell (0075855) 

Jeckering & Associates, LLC 

10 North High Street 

Suite 310  

Columbus, OH 43215 

P: 614-944-5151 

F: 614-515-4905 

brad@centralohiolegal.com  

kristie@centralohiolegal.com 

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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JURY DEMAND 

 

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by a jury as to all issues contained herein. 

 

/s/ Bradley N. Jeckering______ 

Bradley N. Jeckering (0092299) 

 

 


















































